
 

 
 

Scan the code above or visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings 
for a full copy of the agenda. 

 

 

 
Meeting LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE 
 
Time/Day/Date 6.00 pm on Wednesday, 26 May 2021 
 
Location Council Chamber, Council Offices, Coalville                                

The public are encouraged to attend remotely 
 
Officer to contact Democratic Services 01530 454512 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item  Pages 

 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring 
disclosable interests you should made clear the nature of that interest and 
whether it is pecuniary or non-pecuniary. 
 

 

3  PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION  
 

 

 To receive questions from members of the public under rule no.10 of the 
Council Procedure Rules.  
 

 

4  MINUTES  
 

 

 To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 31 March 2021 
 

3 - 6 

5  LOCAL PLAN REVIEW: POLICY OPTIONS FOR EC2(2). START UP 
WORKSPACE AND LOCAL EMPLOYMENT  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
 

7 - 18 

6  STRATEGIC HOUSING AND ECONOMIC LAND AVAILABILITY 
ASSESSMENT (SHELAA) - NEW SITES  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure  
 

19 - 32 

7  LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE AUTHORITIES - STATEMENT OF 
COMMON GROUND RELATING TO HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT LAND 
NEEDS  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure  33 - 70 

http://www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings


 
 
Circulation:  
 
Councillor J Bridges (Chairman) 
Councillor D Harrison (Deputy Chairman) 
Councillor D Bigby 
Councillor R Boam 
Councillor J Hoult 
Councillor R Johnson 
Councillor J Legrys 
Councillor V Richichi 
Councillor A C Saffell 
Councillor N Smith 
Councillor M B Wyatt 
 



25 
 

Chairman’s initials 

MINUTES of a meeting of the LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE held in the Remote Meeting using 
Microsoft Teams on WEDNESDAY, 31 MARCH 2021  
 
Present:  Councillor J Bridges (Chairman) 
 
Councillors D Harrison, D Bigby, R Boam, J Hoult, R Johnson, J Legrys, V Richichi, A C Saffell, 
N Smith and M B Wyatt  

 
Officers:  Mr I Nelson, Mr C Elston, Mr C Colvin and Mrs R Wallace 
 

35 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

36 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
Councillor R Johnson declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 7 – Hugglescote & 
Donington le Heath Neighbourhood Plan (Submission Draft) and Neighbourhood Planning 
Update as the Chairman of the Parish Council. 

 
A Member raised a concern in relation to the eligibility of another Member to sit on the 
committee following the way they had voted on the NWL Local Plan Partial Review item at 
the recent Council meeting.  The Head of Planning and Infrastructure explained that the 
items being considered at the meeting were different to that agreed at Council and 
therefore did not see an issue, however, he advised the Member to raise it with the 
Monitoring Officer if they felt it necessary. 
 

37 PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
There were no questions received. 
 

38 MINUTES 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 27 January 2021. 
 
It was moved by Councillor J Legrys, seconded by Councillor N Smith and by affirmation 
of the meeting  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 27 January 2021 be approved as a correct record. 
 

39 LOCAL PLAN SUBSTANTIVE REVIEW - HOUSING REQUIREMENTS 
 
The Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager presented the report to Members, 
providing an update in respect of the Local Housing Need following the announcement 
from government in respect of changes to the standard method.   
 
A Member expressed surprise at the change in approach as the calculations did not 
include Leicester City’s overflow which was different to the previous method.  The 
Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager explained that there was no indication 
of what the housing requirement from Leicester City would be but that the  consultants 
appointed to undertake the assessment for Leicester and Leicestershire, and which would 
ultimately inform the local plan, would have regard to all available evidence when 
undertaking their assessment and making recommendations.    
 

3

Agenda Item 4



26 
 

Chairman’s initials 

In response to a request, the Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager agreed to 
send all Members of the Committee a link to the Scoping Report which included 
information on the Sustainability Objectives that would be used to assess policies and 
proposals in the Local Plan such as the 20 points of testing. 
 
Some Members expressed concerns with the suggestion of more houses in their already 
heavily developed wards.  The Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager 
stressed the importance of considering all options for possible growth as it would be too 
much of a risk not to do so at this stage. 
 
Councillor J Legrys moved that the officer’s recommendation be amended to read as 
follows: 
 
‘A range of housing requirements be tested as set out at paragraph 4.13 of the report.  
Housing testing should take full account of community needs and environmental 
sustainability’. 
 
In support of his proposal, Councillor J Legrys gave his concerns that the community 
needs, and environmental sustainability would not be taken into account as part of the 
testing and the additional wording would give him more confidence that it would be done.  
He also expressed concerns that the focus remained on the Leicester market when it was 
unknown and that the report did not consider Freeport or the Development Corporation. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor D Bigby who then spoke in support. 
 
The Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager assured Members that community 
needs, and environmental sustainability were covered by the sustainability framework as 
part of the sustainability appraisal, therefore would be tested as part of the process.  In 
relation to Freeport and the Development Corporation, it was difficult to know how they 
would affect the local plan at the moment, but officers would be looking into the 
implications in due course.  The Legal Advisor asked Members to reconsider the 
amendment as she was concerned that the wording as proposed could leave the Council 
open to challenge.  She explained that the nature of this report was to agree the 
commencement of the testing rather than the detail. 
 
A lengthy discussion on the proposed amendment ensued and several alternative wording 
options were put forward by officers.   
 
On conclusion of the discussion, both the proposer and seconder of the motion declined 
the option to change the amendment and asked that the proposal be put to the vote as 
original stated.  It was felt very strongly that the amendment would provide reassurance 
that everything would be tested by due process on community need and environmental 
sustainability both for this Committee and future generations of Councillors. 
 
Before the motion was put to the vote, the Legal Advisor asked that the words ‘as 
appropriate’ be added to proposed amendment so that it read as follows: 
 
‘A range of housing requirements be tested as set out at paragraph 4.13 of the report.  
Housing testing should take full account of community needs and environmental 
sustainability, as appropriate.’ 
 
Both the proposer and seconder agreed to this addition.  The motion was then put to the 
vote and was lost. 
 
The officer’s recommendation was moved by Councillor D Harrison, seconded by 
Councillor R Boam and 
 

4



27 
 

Chairman’s initials 

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
A range of housing requirements be tested as set out at paragraph 4.13 of the report. 
 

40 LOCAL PLAN SUBSTANTIVE REVIEW - RENEWABLE ENERGY STUDY 
 
The Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager presented the report, informing 
Members of the renewable and low carbon energy study undertaken and how its findings 
related to the Council’s Zero Carbon Roadmap. 
 
Some Members were concerned that time spent working on this could be wasted when 
building regulations were not up to date and government advice could change.  There was 
a risk the Local Plan would not be ‘sound’. They sought assurances that decisions made 
going forward would be consistent with government policy and the principle.  The Planning 
Policy and Land Charges Team Manager explained that although it was impossible to 
guarantee that everything agreed would be successful at examination, all advice given by 
officers would be in line with current regulations and national policy. 
 
Following a comment on the lack of discussion within the report on the possible use of 
hydrogen hubs, the Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager acknowledged the 
popularity of this energy source within the haulage industry and referred to section 4 of the 
study where this had been addressed.  He assured Members that this was an emerging 
energy source which was covered in the study and which officers would be monitoring 
going forward. 
 
Members were complimentary about the work undertaken to date in the local plan and 
could see the potential moving forward.  Some disappointment was shared that officers 
were not moving forward with this more quickly and they were urged to ensure policies 
were future proofed for changing regulations when written.   
 
Following a further discussion in relation to other sources of energy including wind power 
and water sourced heat pumps using water from coalmines, as well as the enforcement of 
renewable energy supplies for Developers, the Chairman reminded Members that as the 
building regulations had not been updated since 1997, these things were very difficult to 
enforce.  He added that it was a constant battle as the developers were working in 
accordance with the current regulations, albeit that they were out of date. 
 
It was moved by Councillor J Legrys, seconded by Councillor D Harrison and by 
affirmation of the meeting 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The following be noted -  
 
1) The completion of the Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Study. 

 
2) The Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Study supports the findings of the Zero 

Carbon Roadmap in respect of renewable energy targets. 

 
3) A further report giving consideration to possible policy options would be brought to a 

future meeting of the Committee. 
 
 
 
 
 

5



28 
 

Chairman’s signature 

41 HUGGLESCOTE & DONINGTON LE HEATH NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN (SUBMISSION 
DRAFT) AND NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING UPDATE 
 
The Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager presented the report to Members 
highlighting the next steps by the District Council in relation to the submitted 
Neighbourhood plan.  Members were also given a general update on neighbourhood 
planning in the District.    
 
Members spoke positively in relation to the work undertaken by Hugglescote and 
Donington le Heath Parish Council in the preparation of the neighbourhood plan. 
 
A concern was made about the amount of support available by officers due to the current 
resources in the Planning Policy and Land Charges Team, and other work priorities such 
as the local plan review.  Members felt that as communities put a lot of work and effort into 
neighbourhood plans, it was important that officer support was provided.  The Planning 
Policy and Land Charges Team Manager assured Members that support would always be 
provided but it was important to balance this work with that required for the local plan. 
 
It was moved by Councillor J Legrys, seconded by Councillor D Bigby and by affirmation 
of the meeting  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
1) The proposed response to the submission draft of the Hugglescote and Donington Le 

Heath Neighbourhood Plan in appendices A and B be agreed. 
 

2) It be noted that the Strategic Director of Place, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Planning and Infrastructure, would: 

 
a) publish the plan for a six-week period and invite representations; 
b) notify consultation bodies; and  
c) appoint an Independent Examiner to conduct the examination of the 

Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
3) It be noted that following the receipt of the Independent Examiner’s report, the 

Strategic Director of Place in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Infrastructure, would determine whether the conditions had been met for the 
Neighbourhood Plan to proceed to referendum. 
 

4) Following the referendum and if time did not allow for a report to the Local Plan 
Committee, the Strategic Director of Place in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Planning and Infrastructure would determine whether the Neighbourhood Plan should 
be ‘made’. 

 
5) The progress being made with Neighbourhood Plans in the District be noted. 
 
Councillor M B Wyatt left the meeting at 7.46pm. 
 
Councillor V Richichi left the meeting at 7.53pm. 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 8.06 pm 
 

 

6



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE – WEDNESDAY, 26 MAY 2021 
 
 

Title of Report 
 

LOCAL PLAN REVIEW: POLICY OPTIONS FOR EC2(2), 
START-UP WORKSPACE AND LOCAL EMPLOYMENT 
 

Presented by Ian Nelson  
Planning Policy Team Manager  

Background Papers National Planning Policy Framework  
 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
North West Leicestershire: The Need for 
Employment Land (December 2020) 
 
Local Plan Committee 27 January 2021 - Local 
Plan Review Economic Evidence 
 
Start-up Workspace Demand Report (SQW) 
 
Local Plan Committee 29 July 2020 - Local 
Plan Review Update 
 
Economic Growth Plan 2019-21 

Public Report: 
Yes 
 

Financial Implications The cost of the substantive Local Plan Review is met through 
existing budgets.  
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications None from the specific content of this report. In due course the 
policy options set out will be incorporated in a consultation 
document for the Substantive Local Plan Review. The Local Plan 
Review process as a whole must accord with the legal 
requirements set out in legislation and guidance.  
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

No staffing implications associated with the specific content of 
this report. Links with the Council’s Priorities are set out at the 
end of the report.  
 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report This report sets out potential policy options for 3 economic issues 
as part of the Local Plan Review; a) a review of Policy Ec2(2); b) 
a policy for start-up workspace; and c) a local employment policy 
with a view to testing these through the next stage of 
consultation. 

Recommendations 1) THAT THE LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE AGREES FOR 
INCLUSION IN THE NEXT CONSULTATION STAGE OF 
THE LOCAL PLAN REVIEW THE POTENTIAL POLICY 
OPTIONS SET OUT IN THE REPORT FOR A) FOR A 
REVIEW OF POLICY EC2(2); B) START-UP WORKSPACE; 
AND C) LOCAL EMPLOYMENT.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

7

Agenda Item 5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/need_for_employment_land_report/North%20West%20Leicestershire%20Need%20for%20Employment%20Land%20%28November%202020%29.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/need_for_employment_land_report/North%20West%20Leicestershire%20Need%20for%20Employment%20Land%20%28November%202020%29.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s30792/Local%20Plan%20Review%20Employment%20Land%20Requirements%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s30792/Local%20Plan%20Review%20Employment%20Land%20Requirements%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/start_up_workspace_demand_report/NWLDC%20Start-up%20Workspace%20Demand%20Report_FINAL_13jan21.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s28456/Local%20Plan%20Review%20-%20Upate%20Report%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s28456/Local%20Plan%20Review%20-%20Upate%20Report%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/economic_growth_plan_2019_21/EGP%20Economic%20Growth%20Plan%2019-21.pdf


 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 As part of the work on the Substantive Local Plan Review, officers have begun to look at 
potential policy options for three issues which relate to the economy; a) a review of Policy 
Ec2(2); b) a policy for start-up workspace; and c) a local employment policy. For each of 
these issues, potential policy approaches are described and compared with the intention 
that they are included in the next stage of consultation on the Local Plan Review.  
 

2. POLICY EC2(2) 
 

2.1 Policy Ec2 in the adopted Local Plan is concerned with new employment sites. Part 1 of the 
policy allocates up to 16ha of land at Money Hill, Ashby de la Zouch for employment 
development whilst Part 2 deals with the circumstances where a planning application is 
submitted for additional employment land (offices, industrial, warehousing) on a site which 
is not allocated in the local plan. 
  

2.2 Part 2 of the policy was inserted in the Local Plan at Main Modifications stage at the 
specific request of the Inspector. The policy was needed because a) at the time, there was 
a shortfall of employment land of some 13Ha which the implementation of Policy Ec2(2) 
would help to address; and b) to provide an appropriate level of flexibility in the choice and 
location of employment sites, including in the M/A42 corridor, provided either a need or 
demand could be demonstrated.   

 
2.3 Since the Local Plan was adopted, concerns have been expressed about the operation of 

Policy Ec2(2) in its current form.  One criticism is that the policy acts to encourage the 
submission of applications for speculative development.  A second concern is that the 
wording of the policy is not tight enough to resist inappropriate development. 

 
2.4 For the Local Plan Review, we need to consider whether or not a similar type of policy 

should be retained in the plan and, if so, what form it should take. 
 

2.5 As a starting point, the Local Plan Review must identify sufficient land for employment 
purposes to ensure that the identified needs will be met in full. The need for new office, 
industrial and non-strategic warehousing floorspace is evidenced in the ‘North West 
Leicestershire: The Need for Employment Land (December 2020)’ study (‘The Stantec 
Report’) [see Background Papers above] which was reported to the January meeting of this 
committee. The need for additional floorspace for strategic-scale distribution (units of 
>9,000sqm) is being assessed separately through a county-wide study and this will be 
reported to a future meeting of this committee. 

 
2.6 So, for current purposes, we can assume that a Ec2(2) type policy will not be needed to 

make up a shortfall in employment land supply.   
 

2.7 The second part of the justification for Ec2(2) relates to flexibility or how the plan can 
respond to unpredictable circumstances.  The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
makes clear that the achievement of sustainable development is linked to three overarching 
objectives: an economic objective, a social objective and an environmental objective. With 
respect to the first of these, the planning system should: 

 
“help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that 
sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at the right time 
to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and 
coordinating the provision of infrastructure” (paragraph 8, emphasis added) 

2.8 The NPPF directs that planning policies should: 
 

“be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in the plan allow for 
new and flexible working practices (such as live-work accommodation), and to 
enable a rapid response to changes in economic circumstances” (paragraph 81d). 
 

8



 

2.9 The clear implication is that it would be inappropriate for the Local Plan Review to plan 
simply for the economic growth which is forecast at a point in time. The plan’s policies 
should be sufficiently flexible to deal with changing circumstances over the plan’s lifetime, 
for example if the economy grows more strongly than current studies anticipate and/or if the 
nature of business needs turns out to be different to what can be anticipated now. 
Measures such as adding a percentage uplift (a ’buffer’) to the need figures and/or 
incorporating reserve sites into the plan could help with this issue to some degree. Ideally, 
the plan should give clarity about the process for determining planning applications where 
the need or demand is unpredicted. Over recent years there has been a considerable 
market interest in employment development in the district, in particular for strategic scale 
warehousing, and it is likely that this pressure will continue.   
 

2.10 Options for the replacement for Policy Ec2(2) (or not) in the Local Plan Review are 
described below.  The intention is that these will be presented as alternatives in the next 
Local Plan Review consultation (Regulation 18 stage) so that wider views on the 
implications of the different options can be gathered. The options will also be tested 
through the Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment process so that 
their relative merits can be compared on a consistent basis.  By following this process, we 
can ensure that the approach which is incorporated in the Local Plan Review is ‘justified’ 
i.e. it is “an appropriate strategy taking into account the reasonable alternatives” (NPPF 
paragraph 35). It is important that realistic options are not ruled out prior to the completion 
of this objective process. 
 
Option 1 - delete Policy Ec2(2). Applications for new employment floorspace on sites 
which are not allocated in the plan would be considered against the strategy/general 
policies contained in the Local Plan Review. 
 
Option 2 – retain Ec2(2) in its current form.  Applications for new employment floorspace 
on sites which are not allocated in the plan would be considered against Ec2(2) plus any 
other relevant policies. 
 
Option 3 – amend Policy Ec2(2) to make it more specific/restrictive. (a) include a 
requirement that the premises should be for a named end user 
 
Option 4 – amend Policy Ec2(2) to make it more specific/restrictive. (b) amend the 
alternative sites test to include sites with planning permission. Ec2(2) currently 
requires applicants to assess land allocated in the plan as potential alternative locations for 
the need/demand which has been identified.  This could be expanded to also include sites 
which have planning permission. 
 
Option 5 – amend Policy Ec2(2) to make it more specific/restrictive. (c) amend the 
alternative sites test to potentially include sites outside the district. Ec2(2) currently 
requires applicants to assess land allocated in the plan as potential alternative locations for 
the need/demand which has been identified.  This could be expanded to potentially include 
sites which are outside the district but within the market area for the development.  
 
Option 6 – amend Policy Ec2(2) to make it more specific/restrictive. (d) demonstrate 
that the need/demand is exceptional. Ec2(2) currently requires evidence of an immediate 
need or demand.  This could be expanded to require applicants to demonstrate that their 
need/demand is exceptional and that it was not/could not have been captured by the 
studies which the Local Plan Review relies upon. 
 
Option 7 – amend Policy Ec2(2) to make it more specific/restrictive – combination of 
Options 3-6.  
 

2.11 A summary assessment of the advantages/disadvantages of these options is set out in the 
following table. 
 
 

9



 

ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Option 1 - delete Policy Ec2(2) 
 

 overcomes the concern that Policy 
EC2(2) in its current form encourages 
unwarranted applications  

 

 It is less clear for all users of the plan 
which considerations will apply to proposal 
for additional employment floorspace on 
an unallocated site 

 uncertain whether or not the approach 
would be sufficiently flexibility to accord 
with the NPPF 

Option 2 – retain Ec2(2) in its current form (business as usual) 
 

 provides clarity for all users of the plan 
about the criteria which will apply  

 demonstrates how the plan deals with 
the NPPF requirement for flexibility  

 does not overcome the concern that the 
existence of the policy encourages 
unwarranted applications 

 does not deal with the concern that the 
current policy is too permissive  

 the Stantec report suggests there is a risk 
of piecemeal development which would 
not provide the quality and scale of 
industrial space that high-value occupiers 
are looking for  

Option 3 – amend Policy Ec2(2) to make it more specific/restrictive (a) - include a 
requirement that the premises should be for a named end user 

 enables the actual business 
requirements to be more easily 
explained and assessed through the 
planning application process 

 would exclude situations where there is a 
genuine market demand but no named 
end user and so may not be sufficiently 
flexible 

 firms can have genuine reasons for not 
wanting to publicise relocation plans 
before they are confirmed e.g. staff 
retention issues  

Option 4 – amend Policy Ec2(2) to make it more specific/restrictive (b) – amend the 
alternative sites test to include sites with planning permission  

 ensures that other suitable sites are 
explored with reasons given if they are 
discounted before an unidentified site 
could be deemed acceptable  

 could be onerous for applicants (although 
a similar exercise is usually part of the 
Environmental Impact Assessment 
process) 

Option 5 – amend Policy Ec2(2) to make it more specific/restrictive (c) – amend the 
alternative sites test to potentially include sites outside the district 

 may better reflect the ‘real life’ site 
search a business would undertake  

 for strategic warehousing, this would 
better reflect the sub-regional nature of 
the market 

 could be onerous for applicants (although 
a similar exercise is usually part of the 
Environmental Impact Assessment 
process) 

 it will be difficult to justify the extent of the 
site search area  

 the district council does not have planning 
control over sites outside the district  

Option 6 – amend Policy Ec2(2) to make it more specific/restrictive (d) - demonstrate 
that the need/demand is exceptional  

 captures a business-specific justification 

 provides a policy framework for ‘needs 
not anticipated in the plan’ (NPPF 
paragraph 81d) to be addressed   

 

 approach effectively invites applicants to 
challenge/undermine the council’s 
employment needs evidence base 

10



Option 7 – amend Policy Ec2(2) to make it more specific/restrictive – combination of 
Options 3-6.  

 overall, a more restrictive approach 
helps to address the concern that the 
current policy is insufficient to resist 
inappropriate development 

 overall, a more restrictive approach could 
dissuade genuine investment 
opportunities which would have benefitted 
the local economy 

 
2.12 Through the operation of Policy Ec2(2) to date, the terms it uses have been interpreted as 

follows: 
‘Need’ correlates to a policy requirement identified through the plan-making 
process to ensure that the future needs of an area are adequately addressed. 
 
‘Demand’ could be in the form of a request from potential future users or could be 
to address a gap in the supply of premises in the district.  In other words it relates 
to ‘market demand’. 
 
‘Immediate’ has been interpreted as ‘arising now’. 
 

2.13 The NPPF uses the term ‘need’ but does not define what is meant by the term. ‘Demand’ 
conveys a business or market-specific requirement which is much more likely to be 
immediate and unanticipated in nature compared with the ‘need’ measured through 
economic forecasts. ‘Need’ can also encompass a situation where the market is not 
willing/able to deliver a particular type of development which is nonetheless wanted and an 
example of this is start-up workspace which is covered in a later section of this report. Both 
‘need’ and ‘demand’ are considered to be encompassed within the thrust of the NPPF’s 
approach. 
 

2.14 Detailed policy wording will be drafted at a later stage once preferred policy options have 
been selected.  In this case, however, as Policy Ec2(2) is a pre-existing policy officers have 
drafted some revised wording so that the Committee can understand the types of changes 
which could result from the Options 3 - 6 above. This is included in Appendix 1 for 
illustrative purposes only. Further, the plan’s supporting text will need to provide important 
information to explain how the requirements in the policy will be met. This could include, for 
example, information about the extent of the ‘market area’ to be defined (which may vary 
according to the type of proposals). 

 
3. START-UP PREMISES 

 
3.1 The report on Employment Land Requirements to the January meeting of this committee 

contained commentary on the Start-up Workspace Demand Report [see Background 
Papers above] which assessed the need for start-up workspace in North West 
Leicestershire.  Whilst start-up space can come in a number of forms, local need is more 
likely to be for industrial/workshop space up to 100 sqm on flexible tenures, typically short-
term leases with a fee payable to cover facilities, building operational costs, business rates, 
additional services etc.   
 

3.2 Whilst the NPPF does not talk about start-up space specifically, it does emphasise that 
planning policies should; 

 
“b) set criteria, or identify strategic sites, for local and inward investment to match 
the strategy and to meet anticipated needs over the plan period”; (paragraph 81, 
emphasis added) 

 
3.3 The Study provides evidence that ‘anticipated needs’ can include a need for start-up space 

and  the Study concludes that the Local Plan Review could help to deliver small workshop 
schemes in the district, some of which should be available on flexible lease terms and with 
access to business support services. There is also a justification for ‘grow on’ light industrial 
space of 150-500 sqm. 
 

3.4 Potential options for how this matter could be addressed in the Local Plan Review include 
the following: 
 

11



 

Option 1 – allocate specific sites for start-up premises 
 
Option 2 – specify a requirement for a proportion of start-up premises as part of the 
overall mix of employment floorspace on allocated employment sites only 
 
Option 3 - generic policy which would apply to all employment sites, whether 
allocated or not, to require a proportion of units to be for start-ups and/or a financial 
contribution towards provision elsewhere   
 
Option 4 – policy to support the provision of start-up space on suitable sites 
 
Option 5 – policy that would allow start up premises as an exception on sites where 
development would normally be restricted. This would follow the same principle as a 
rural exceptions site policy for affordable housing and could be a continuation/adaptation of 
Policy S3 which allows for the expansion of rural businesses and small-scale employment 
generating development.  
 
Option 6 – no change. The Local Plan Review does not include a policy for start-up 
workspace.  
 

3.5 The potential advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches are explained 
further in the table below. 
 

ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Option 1 - allocate specific sites for start-up premises 

 is a clear and direct way for the Local 
Plan Review to address the shortage of 
start-up workspace in the district which 
the market has failed to provide 

 market factors (viability) may mean that 
the allocated site/s still do not come 
forward for development unless other 
forms of financial support are in place 

 potentially difficult to justify which site/s 
should be selected for start-up premises 
and therefore excluded from general 
needs employment development 

 likely to result in provision being 
concentrated in a limited number of 
locations 

Option 2 – specify a requirement for a proportion of start-up premises as part of the 
overall mix of employment floorspace on allocated employment sites only 

 is a clear and direct way for the Local 
Plan Review to address the shortage of 
start-up workspace in the district which 
the market has failed to provide 

 should result in mixed employment sites 
with a range of business types/sizes 

 risk to the viability of the development as a 
whole  

 an on-site mix of units may be unfeasible 
for large scale/single operator sites (e.g. 
strategic distribution sites)  

 percentage requirements will require 
justification 

Option 3 – generic policy which would apply to all employment sites, whether 
allocated or not, to require a proportion of units to be for start-ups and/or a financial 
contribution towards provision elsewhere   

 is a clear and direct way for the Local 
Plan Review to address the shortage of 
start-up workspace in the district which 
the market has failed to provide 

 should result in mixed employment sites 
with a range of business types/sizes 

 risk to the viability of the development as a 
whole  

 site size thresholds and percentage 
requirements will require justification  

 commuted sums would require the council 
to establish and resource a workspace 
delivery programme   

12



Option 4 – policy to support the provision of start-up space on suitable sites 
 

 provides a clear statement of support for 
the development of start up workspace  

 including criteria for judging a suitable 
site would make the policy more useful  
 

 on its own, unlikely to result in significant 
additional start up floorspace being 
provided.  Risk that the plan would not be 
planning positively to address the 
identified need for start-up space. 

Option 5 – policy that would allow start-up premises as an exception on sites where 
development would normally be restricted 

 good prospect that the policy will bring 
forward additional sites although much 
will depend on how restrictive (or 
otherwise) the policy criteria are 

 the development locations that result from 
this approach are likely to be less 
sustainable than for the other options 

Option 6 – no change 
 

 reliance on the market to meet the need 
for this type of premises 

 the plan would not be planning positively 
to address the evidenced need for start-up 
space.  

 reliance on the market to meet the need 
for this type of premises 

 
 

3.6 With the exception of Option 6 – no change, viability is likely to be an issue to a greater or 
lesser degree for each of these options.  Whilst the study has revealed a need for more 
start up workspace it is clear that the market is failing to meet it, possibly because of the 
financial risks associated with this form of development. Specialist management 
arrangements may also be needed for these types of premises which could add to costs 
and further disincentivise commercial developers. It would be prudent to test the options (or 
a shortlist) as part of the whole plan viability assessment which will be commissioned at a 
later stage in the Local Plan Review process. Options will also be tested through the 
Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment process. 
 

3.7 It is recommended that the options are included in the next public consultation for the Local 
Plan Review   

 
4. LOCAL EMPLOYMENT POLICY 

 
4.1 At its July 2020 meeting, the Committee considered a Local Plan Review Update report 

[see Background Papers above] which raised the prospect of including a local employment 
policy in the Local Plan Review.  This could include encouraging businesses to recruit 
locally and to offer training to raise the attainment level of their staff. The report noted: 
 

“Any planning policy approach will need to be justified by evidence. Whilst the 
district has key economic strengths, it can be argued that action is needed to 
sustain its position. Further, there is the prospect of Covid-19 linked recession and 
associated increase in local unemployment. More generally, increased local 
recruitment could also help to bear down on commuting distances, important in a 
district where 92% of journeys to work are by car (the national average is 78%). In 
the broadest sense, local employment initiatives can also help ensure that local 
people benefit from new development and, equally, show that businesses are 
invested in the wellbeing of their communities.” 

 
4.2 Developers often identify job creation as part of the supporting case for development and 

there is the opportunity to establish a local dimension to this overall jobs boost. 
 

4.3 The issue of local recruitment is a matter highlighted in the council’s Economic Growth Plan 
(2019-21) [see Background Papers above] with its objective to “help new and existing 
businesses to recruit local people”.  It goes on to give the examples of continuing to support 
the Airport Academy at East Midlands Airport and working with the SEGRO Logistics Park 
employment group.    

 

13



 

4.4 As for start-up space, the NPPF does not provide specific guidance on this matter although 
it does provide overall support for positive measures which support the economy as 
follows; 
 

“Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities 
for development. The approach taken should allow each area to build on its 
strengths, counter any weaknesses and address the challenges of the future”. 
(paragraph 80) 

 
4.5 Potential options for how this matter could be addressed in the Local Plan Review include 

the following: 
 
Option 1 – policy to encourage local employment initiatives in new, large scale 
developments . Include a policy (or add a criterion to an existing policy) stating that for 
large scale developments (indicative thresholds would need to be confirmed ), the council 
will encourage measures which support the recruitment of local workers and which promote 
skills development (for example apprenticeships) a) during construction; and/or b) in the 
end use where this is employment-generating. The policy could also encourage occupiers 
to prepare an ‘Employment & Skills Plan’ (or similar) which could be used to confirm and 
monitor the measures put in place.  
 
Option 2 – policy to require local employment initiatives in new large-scale 
developments. For large scale developments (thresholds would need to be confirmed), the 
council will require proposals to support the recruitment of local workers and promote skills 
development (for example apprenticeships) a) during construction and/or b) in the end use 
where this is employment-generating. The policy could also include the preparation of an 
‘Employment & Skills Plan’ (or similar) which will demonstrate how the requirement will be 
met and monitored.  
 
Option 3 - no change.  Do not make specific provision in the Local Plan Review for local 
employment and/or skills development. Action on this issue would involve the Council and 
its partners (such as Job Centre Plus, local colleges etc) engaging with new and expanding 
businesses to encourage and enable them to recruit locally and to improve local skills 
levels.  

   
4.6 The potential advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches are explained 

further in the table below. 
 

ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Option 1 - Option A – policy to encourage local employment initiatives in new, large 
scale developments  

 It signals that the council sees this as an 
important issue and one which 
applicants should actively consider as 
they are preparing planning applications.  

 It falls short of being a requirement so 
may be only modestly effective. 
 

Option 2 – policy to require local employment initiatives in new, large scale 
developments. 

 can help ensure that local people benefit 
from new development and, equally, 
show that businesses are invested in the 
wellbeing of their communities.  

 could support a generalised aim to 
reduce commuting distances  

 inclusion of a Local Plan policy will 
ensure that applicants address the 
matter in planning applications  

 The policy would be more difficult to 
apply to speculative proposals where 
there is no identified end user.  

 It would also be important that 
compliance with the policy does not 
create recruitment barriers for 
businesses. 

 site size thresholds would need to be 
justified 

Option 3 – no change  
 

14



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4.7 The text of the Local Plan could provide information on the types of measures and these 
could be more tailored if information on specific local training and skills gaps is available. It 
could also provide information about how the policy would be implemented including the 
likely need for the measures to be secured by a s106 legal agreement.  The application of 
measures would need a degree of flexibility to ensure they do not become a barrier to 
recruitment (e.g. some form of cascade mechanism).  
 

4.8 It is recommended that the options are included in the next public consultation for the Local 
Plan Review. Options will also be tested through the Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic 
Environmental Assessment process. 

 
 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

The economic policies in the Substantive Local Plan 
Review will be particularly relevant for the following 
Council Priority;  
- Support for businesses and helping people into 

local jobs 
 

Policy Considerations: 
 

Adopted Local Plan 
National Planning Policy Framework 

Safeguarding: 
 

None specific 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

The Local Plan Review as an entity will be subject to 
an Equalities Impact Assessment.  

Customer Impact: 
 

None specific 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

The decision, of itself, will have no specific impact.  
The Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will 
deliver positive economic and social impacts and 
these will be recorded through the Sustainability 
Appraisal.  . 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

The decision, of itself, will have no specific impact.  
The Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will 
deliver positive environmental and climate change 
benefits and these will be recorded through the 
Sustainability Appraisal.  

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

In due course the planning policy implications of the 
economic evidence set out will be incorporated in a 
consultation document for the Substantive Local Plan 
Review. The consultation arrangements will be 
governed by requirements in the Statement of 
Community Involvement. 

Risks: 
 

A risk assessment for the Local Plan Review has 
been prepared and is kept up to date. As far as 
possible control measures have been put in place to 
minimise risks, including regular Project Board 
meetings where risk is reviewed. 

Officer Contact 
 

Sarah Lee – Principal Planning Policy Officer  
01530 454791 
sarah.lee@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
  

 

 use existing, non-planning mechanisms   would miss the opportunity which a 
planning application gives to engage and 
influence with employers at the earliest 
stage. 

15

mailto:sarah.lee@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

Draft wording for review of policy Ec2(2) (for illustration only) 

 

The council will consider favourably proposals for additional employment land (offices; 
industrial; storage/distribution) on land not allocated in the plan where the following 
circumstances are met: 

(1) it is demonstrated that there is an immediate need or demand for the additional 
employment land (B1, B2 and B8) in North West Leicestershire and 

(a) the development will be occupied by a named end-user; or 
(b) the development is required to meet economic needs not anticipated in the 

local plan; and 
(2) it is demonstrated that the immediate need or demand cannot be met from land 

allocated in a Local Plan in this plan or from land with planning permission within the 
market area: and the Council will consider favourably proposals that meet the identified 
need in appropriate locations  

(3) the development is in an appropriate location and 

(a)  Being is accessible or will be made accessible by a choice of means of transport, 
including sustainable transport modes, as a consequence of planning permission 
being granted for the development; and 

(b)  Having has good access to the strategic highway network (M1, M42/A42 and A50) 
and an acceptable impact on the capacity of that network, including any junctions; 
and 

(c)  Not being will not be detrimental to the amenities of any nearby residential 
properties or the wider environment. 

17



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE – WEDNESDAY 26 MAY 2021 
 
 

 
Title of Report 
 

STRATEGIC HOUSING AND ECONOMIC LAND 
AVAILABILITY ASSESSMENT (SHELAA) – NEW SITES 

Presented by Ian Nelson 
Planning Policy Team Manager 

Background Papers National Planning Policy 
Framework  
 
National Planning Practice 
Guidance 
 
Leicester and Leicestershire 
Housing Market Area 
Housing and Economic 
Land Availability 
Assessment Methodology 
Paper – March 2017 
 
NWLDC SHELAA 2019 
 
 

Public Report: Yes 
 
 

Financial Implications The cost of the study is met from existing budgets which are 
reviewed as part of the annual budget setting process. 
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications None from the specific content of this report. The SHELAA is a 
vital component of the evidence base to support the Local Plan 
review and a failure to produce it and review it regularly would 
increase the risk that the Local Plan review would be found 
unsound. A joint methodology has been agreed with the other 
Leicester and Leicestershire authorities to try and ensure that a 
consistent approach is taken across the Housing Market Area. 
 
The inclusion of a site in the SHELAA does not indicate that the 
Council supports the development of a particular site. Any 
decisions on whether a site will be allocated for future residential 
or economic development will be taken through the Local Plan 
review. 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

None identified 
 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report To inform Members of the significant additional  put forward 
following a recent call for sites and which will be included in the 
2021 update of the Strategic Housing and Economic Land 
Availability Assessment (SHELAA). 

Recommendations THAT THE COMMITTEE: 
 

(I) NOTES THE SIGNFICANT ADDITIONAL SITES THAT 

ARE TO BE INCLUDED IN THE 2021 UPDATE OF THE 

SHELAA.  

 
 

19

Agenda Item 6

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779764/NPPF_Feb_2019_web.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779764/NPPF_Feb_2019_web.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/shelaa_joint_methodology_march_2017/SHELAA%20Joint%20Methodology%20-%20March%202017.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/shelaa_joint_methodology_march_2017/SHELAA%20Joint%20Methodology%20-%20March%202017.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/shelaa_joint_methodology_march_2017/SHELAA%20Joint%20Methodology%20-%20March%202017.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/shelaa_joint_methodology_march_2017/SHELAA%20Joint%20Methodology%20-%20March%202017.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/shelaa_joint_methodology_march_2017/SHELAA%20Joint%20Methodology%20-%20March%202017.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/shelaa_joint_methodology_march_2017/SHELAA%20Joint%20Methodology%20-%20March%202017.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/strategic_housing_and_economic_land_availabilty_assessment


 

1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Council is responsible for preparing and keeping up to date a Strategic Housing and 

Economic Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA) to help inform future plan making in 
the district. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local planning 
authorities to have a clear understanding of the land available in their areas. The 
SHELAA provides the evidence base to help identify potential sites for allocation in the 
Local Plan review.  

 
1.2 The first Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA) was 

published in March 2018 with a further version published in 2019. 
 
1.3 Since then, further call for sites has been undertaken to ensure that the Council is aware 

of as many potential sites as possible to inform the Local Plan Substantive Review. The 
new sites identified through this process, which officers have now assessed, will be 
included in an update of the SHELAA which will be published shortly. This report 
concentrates upon the most significant new sites which are to be included in the updated 
SHELAA. 
 

2.0  WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THE SHELAA 
 
2.1  A SHELAA identifies a potential future supply of land which is considered to be suitable, 

available and achievable for housing and economic development uses over a local plan 
period. Undertaking a SHELAA allows us to identify a potential future supply of land to 
meet any housing and economic development needs that may have to be allocated 
through the review of the Local Plan.  

 
2.2  The SHELAA gathers together information on potential sites for housing and economic 

development and assesses their suitability. The sites assessed as part of the SHELAA 
range from those with planning permission to those which have been proposed on a 
speculative basis by landowners, developers or the public for future consideration.  

 
2.3  It is important to note that the SHELAA is not a policy document; it does not make 

decisions or recommendations on which sites should be allocated for development 
or granted planning permission.  

 
2.4  In addition, the inclusion of a site in the SHELAA does not provide any indication of the 

Councils view of its acceptability for future development. Sites considered in the SHELAA 
have been assessed against current local policy constraints some of which would 
currently prevent their development for new homes/employment. However, in the longer 
term, changes to policies may not represent such a constraint. Therefore, such policy 
constraints are not viewed as a restriction to the inclusion of a site in the SHELAA. For 
example, land currently identified as countryside or subject to another restrictive 
designation may not be carried forward in the Local Plan review. 

 
3.0  SHELAA METHODOLOGY  
 
3.1  In preparing the SHELAA it is necessary to have regard to national guidance set out in 

the Planning Practice Guidance and also a methodology which has been agreed by each 
of the Local Planning Authorities of Leicester and Leicestershire. The joint methodology 
seeks to ensure each authority’s individual document will follow the same broad 
methodology and appear in a similar format but includes locally specific criterion to take 
account of any local circumstances which justify a different approach.  

 
3.2 The approach set out in the methodology (a copy of which can be viewed from the link in 

the Background Papers identified above) has been informed by the views of house 
builders, land agents and land owners gathered through consultation.  

 

20



 

3.3  In line with the Joint Methodology, only sites capable of delivering five or more dwellings 
or economic development on sites of 0.25ha (or 500sqm of floorspace) or above are 
considered for inclusion within the SHELAA.  

 
3.4  Both the Joint Methodology and the Planning Practice Guidance state that the 

assessment should consider various different types of sites, including existing allocations, 
unimplemented planning permissions, sites under construction, sites of withdrawn 
applications, surplus public sector land and vacant and derelict buildings.  

 
3.5  Each site has been assessed in terms of suitability, achievability and availability. In line 

with the Joint Methodology, each site has also been classified based on its ability to come 
forward and grouped in to 5-year bands for the periods 0-5 years and 6-10 years. The 
third time period identified in the joint methodology is 11-15 years. However, the Local 
Plan was adopted in November 2017 and has an end date of 2031 (10 years from now), 
and the policy constraints on some of the assessed sites are so great that they are 
unlikely to be suitable in the current plan period. In addition, the end date of the 
Substantive Review of the Local Plan needs to be at least 15 years into the future. To 
take account of the sites that are not currently policy compliant and to ensure that the 
assessment runs at least until the end of the Review period, we have extended the final 
time period from 11-15 to 11-20 years to take account of these local circumstances.  

 
4.0 NEW SITES SUBMITTED 
 
4.1  Initial work on the SHELAA update began in late summer 2020. A Call for Sites 

consultation was undertaken between 9 September and 21 October 2020, when 
landowners, developers and other interested parties were invited to submit new sites that 
they thought were suitable for development.  

 
4.2 As well as sites that were submitted as part of the call for sites, the SHELAA will also 

include any additional sites that were submitted after the 2019 SHELAA was published 
but before the call for sites was undertaken. 

 
4.3 Officers have undertaken assessments of all the new sites submitted. In doing so, 

specialist advice has been sought from Leicestershire County Council Highways and 
Ecology officers.     

 
4.4 In total there are 15 new potential employment sites, 49 potential new housing sites and 2 

new sites promoted for a mix of both uses. Some of the new sites are significant in size, 
including: 

 
 Mixed-use sites 
 

 EMP92/Ap20 – part Dingle Farm adjoining M42 J11 (33.74Ha).  This site is 
located to the south of J11 A42 and lies between the A42 and A444. At 50% 
housing it has an estimated capacity of 316 dwellings. 

 
Housing-only sites 
 

   

 Be3 – Land east of Hallamford Road, Shepshed and south of Ashby Road, Belton 
(91Ha) with an estimated capacity of 1,365 dwellings. 
 

 Be4 – Land west of Belton and north of B5324 (398Ha) and would be a new 
settlement with an estimated capacity of 5,970 dwellings. 

 

 C85 – Richmond Road, Donington le Heath (22.93Ha). The site is to the south 
west of Donington le Heath to the north of Richmond Road. The site has an 
estimated capacity of 430 dwellings. 

 

21



 

 E9 – Land between Donington le Heath and Ellistown (43.6Ha). The site is to the 
north of Ellistown and to the south of Donington le Heath it has an estimated 
capacity of 654 dwellings. 

 

 Mo15 – Land at Shellbrook Farm, Norris Hill (30.05Ha). This site lies to the south-
east of Norris Hill, to the south of Moira Road. It has an estimated capacity of 563 
dwellings. 

 
Employment-only sites 
 

 EMP80 – Land East of Corkscrew Lane Ashby de la Zouch (11.49Ha).   
 

 EMP82 – Land East of A444 and West of A42 (28Ha).  This site is to the north of 
J11 A42.  

 

 EMP84 – Land at Junction 11 A42 between A42 and Tamworth Road (76.7ha)  
 

 EMP85 – Land west of Measham north of Tamworth Road (60.01ha).  EMP84 and 
EMP85 combined link J11 A42 to the edge of Measham.  

 

 EMP87– Land East of Ashby de la Zouch (80.7Ha).  The site comprises 3 parcels 
of land on either side of A512 Ashby Road to the east of J13 A42 

 

 EMP90 – Land south of East Midlands Airport and south west of M1 J23a (100Ha) 
 
4.5 The sites referred to above are identified on the maps at Appendix A of this report.  
 
4.6 In addition to the above significant sites, it is noted that the following sites in the council’s 

ownership have also been put forward for inclusion in the SHELAA.  
 

Site Address Settlement Site 
Area 
(Ha) 

Proposed 
Use 

Land south of 74 to 96 
Pretoria Road 

Ibstock 2.4 Residential  

Land west of Howe Road Whitwick 0.7 Residential 

Stretton View Oakthorpe 0.27 Residential 

Land at Nottingham Road Ashby de la 
Zouch 

2.85 Employment 

 
 
5.0  NEXT STEPS  
 
5.1 The new sites will be added to the sites included in the 2019 SHELAA to form an updated 

2021 SHELAA that will be published as soon as possible.  In addition to assessing all of 
the new sites submitted, officers have also checked all the existing sites in the 2019 
SHELAA to ensure that any changes in circumstances (permissions granted, 
development commenced, site completed, etc) are noted. 

 
5.2  It is important to reiterate that any decisions on whether a site will be allocated for future 

residential or economic development will be taken through the Local Plan review rather 
than the SHELAA – specifically the site assessment process.  The inclusion of a site in 
the SHELAA does not indicate that the Council supports development on a particular site.   

 
   
 
 
 
 

22



 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

Our communities are safe, healthy and connected 
 
Local people live in high quality, affordable homes 
 
Supporting businesses and helping people into local 
jobs 
 

Policy Considerations: 
 

None 

Safeguarding: 
 

No issues identified 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

An Equalities Impact Assessment of the Local Plan 
review will be undertaken as part of the Sustainability 
Appraisal. 

Customer Impact: 
 

No issues identified 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

No issues identified at this stage 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

The decision itself will have no specific impact. The 
Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will deliver 
positive environmental and climate change benefits, 
and these will be recorded through the Sustainability 
Appraisal. 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

None 

Risks: 
 

A risk assessment of the review has been undertaken 
and is reviewed at the officer Project Board meetings. 

Officer Contact 
 

Emma Trilk 
Senior Planning Officer 
01530 454726 
emma.trilk@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

23

mailto:emma.trilk@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Ap20/EMP92

Emp82

Emp84

Emp85

Parva

Magna

Measham

Reproduction from Ordnance  1:1250 mapping with permission of the Controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction  infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings Licence No: 100019329

A42 Junction 11

Mixed Use Site
Employment Site

25



Emp80

Emp87 Area 1

Emp87 Area 2
Emp87 Area 3

Reproduction from Ordnance  1:1250 mapping with permission of the Controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction  infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings Licence No: 100019329

A42 Junction 13

Employment Site

26



Emp90

Emp90

Emp90

Diseworth

Reproduction from Ordnance  1:1250 mapping with permission of the Controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction  infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings Licence No: 100019329

West of M1Junction 23a

Employment Site

27



C85

E9

Ellistown

Hugglescote

Donington le Heath

Reproduction from Ordnance  1:1250 mapping with permission of the Controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction  infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings Licence No: 100019329

Land at Donington le Heath and Ellistown

Housing Site

28



Mo15

Hinks Lodge
Reproduction from Ordnance  1:1250 mapping with permission of the Controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction  infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings Licence No: 100019329

Land at Shellbrook Farm, Norris Hill

Housing Site

29



Be3

Be4

Reproduction from Ordnance  1:1250 mapping with permission of the Controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction  infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings Licence No: 100019329

Land East and West of Belton

Housing Site

30



Be4

Be3

Emp90

Reproduction from Ordnance  1:1250 mapping with permission of the Controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction  infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings Licence No: 100019329

Land East and West of Belton

Housing Site
NWLDC Boundary

31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE – WEDNESDAY, 26 MAY 2021 
 

Title of Report 
 

LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE AUTHORITIES - 
STATEMENT OF COMMON GROUND RELATING TO 
HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT LAND NEEDS 
 

Presented by Ian Nelson  
Planning Policy Team Manager  

Background Papers  
National Planning Policy 
Framework   

Public Report: Yes 
 

Financial Implications The only cost of preparing the Statement of Common Ground is 
officer time. 
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications A Statement of Common is required to demonstrate that the 
Leicester and Leicestershire authorities are co-operating in 
respect of strategic cross boundary planning matters. 
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

None 
 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report To highlight that a Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) has 
been prepared by the Leicester and Leicestershire authorities to 
support the Charnwood Local Plan.  

Recommendations THAT LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE AGREES THAT THE 
LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE STATEMENT OF COMMON 
GROUND RELATING TO HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT 
LAND NEEDS (MARCH 2021) BE SIGNED BY THE DISTRICT 
COUNCIL. 

 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Members will be aware that the Localism Act 2011 requires effective cooperation between 

bodies in relation to strategic cross boundary planning matters. To demonstrate such co-
operation as part of the preparation of Local Plans a Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) 
is required. 

 
1.2 Members will also be aware that the Council has been engaged with the other Leicester 

and Leicestershire authorities to agree a redistribution of unmet housing and employment 
needs from Leicester City. It was intended that a SoCG be prepared which would agree this 
redistribution.  

 
1.3 Work on this was progressing well, but late in 2020 the government announced changes to 

its Standard Method for calculating housing requirements which saw a 35% increase in the 
needs for Leicester City. This also means that the level of unmet need has increased. 

 
1.4  In view of this increase further work is required to establish an appropriate redistribution.     

This work is ongoing.  
 

1.5 However, Charnwood Borough Council is due to submit its Local plan for public 
examination later in 2021. Charnwood Borough Council , therefore,  require a Leicester and 
Leicestershire Statement of Common Ground. 

 

33

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/1-introduction
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/1-introduction


 

1.6 Through the work of the Strategic Planning Group (SPG)  and the Member Advisory Group 
(MAG) a SoCG has been agreed  but needs to be ratified by each authority.  

 
1.7 A copy of the SoCG is attached at Appendix A of this report.  
 
2.0  THE STATEMENT OF COMMON GROUND 
 
2.1 The SoCG sets out how the local authorities will collaborate further to ensure that the 

necessary joint evidence is in place to support the preparation of Local Plans across 
Leicester and Leicestershire. The SoCG is intended to provide evidence of effective co-
operation on planning issues with cross-boundary impacts. 

 
2.2 The SoCG does not apportion and/or redistribute unmet need to any of the other 

Leicestershire authorities; it is a factual statement that sets out: 

 Level of housing and employment need; 

 The theoretical supply of housing and employment land; 

 The scale of unmet need from Leicester City; and 

 The process by which unmet need will be dealt with  
 

2.3 The SoCG commits signatories to joint working on long term strategic planning for housing 
and economic growth and the associated strategic infrastructure across Leicester and 
Leicestershire.  

 
2.4 The SoCG is currently being taken through the respective sign-off process by each of the 

authorities.  
 
2.5 When work on the agreeing a redistribution form Leicester City then it is envisaged that a 

further SoCG will be prepared and agreed and similarly will require sign off by each 
authority.  

 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

There are no implications directly arising from this 
report. 

Policy Considerations: 
 

There are no implications directly arising from this 
report. 

Safeguarding: 
 

There are no implications directly arising from this 
report. 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

There are no implications directly arising from this 
report.  

Customer Impact: 
 

There are no implications directly arising from this 
report.  

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

There are no implications directly arising from this 
report.  

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

There are no implications directly arising from this 
report.  

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

There are no implications directly arising from this 
report.  

Risks: 
 

None identified.  

Officer Contact 
 

Ian Nelson  
Planning Policy Team Manager  
01530 454677  
ian.nelson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 
 
 
  

34

mailto:ian.nelson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


Leicester & Leicestershire Authorities - Statement of Common Ground relating to 

Housing and Employment Land Needs (March 2021) 

1.0 The Leicester and Leicestershire HMA and FEMA 

1.1 The Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area (HMA) and Functional Economic Area 

(FEMA) covers the administrative areas of eight local planning authorities and two transport 

authorities.  The eight local planning authorities responsible for plan making are: 

• Blaby District Council

• Charnwood Borough Council

• Harborough District Council

• Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council

• Leicester City Council (Unitary)

• Melton Borough Council

• North West Leicestershire District Council

• Oadby & Wigston Borough Council

1.2 The two upper tier authorities in Leicester and Leicestershire (L&L), with statutory 

responsibilities for transportation, education, social care, flooding, minerals & waste 

planning and public health are: 

• Leicester City Council (Unitary)

• Leicestershire County Council

1.3 This Statement has been prepared jointly by the eight plan making authorities and 

Leicestershire County Council as an additional signatory given their statutory responsibilities, 

hereafter referred to as “the authorities”.  The Map in Appendix C shows the location and 

administrative areas covered by this statement.  The Housing & Economic Development 

Needs Assessment 2017 (HEDNA) identifies this area as the Leicester & Leicestershire HMA 

and FEMA. 

1.4 Local planning authorities across L&L are currently progressing plans at different stages. 

Appendix D sets out the latest position. 

2.0 Purpose 

2.1 This statement has been prepared by the authorities to support the Charnwood Local Plan.  

The key strategic matters covered in this statement under the Duty to Cooperate are; L&L 

Housing and Employment Needs to 2036; Unmet Need to 2036; and the process of 

apportioning unmet need to 2036.  This statement will be reconfirmed and updated as 

necessary, including for subsequent authorities’ Local Plans. 

3.0 Key Strategic Matters on which Authorities Agree 

Duty to Cooperate 

3.1 The authorities agree there is a long track record of effective joint working on strategic 

matters across L&L.  The authorities have continuously engaged with each other on the 

strategic matters set out in this statement and throughout the preparation of Local Plans 

across the area. This is most clearly evidenced through: 

APPENDIX A

35

https://www.llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/HEDNA-Main-Report.pdf
https://www.llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/HEDNA-Main-Report.pdf


• The establishment of the Leicester & Leicestershire Members Advisory Group 

• The joint preparation of evidence, including the Housing & Economic Development 

Needs Assessment (2017) 

• The adoption of a non-statutory Strategic Growth Plan 2018 which includes 

‘notional’ housing figures. 

• The agreement of Joint Statements in 2017, 2018 and 2020 (Appendix E, G and F) 

• The publication of this Statement of Common Ground. 

3.2 More information and details of engagement will be set out in individual authorities Duty to 

Cooperate Statements that accompany Local Plans.  Authorities will continue to engage on 

an ongoing basis. 

  L&L Housing Need to 2036 

3.3 The authorities agree the appropriate way to calculate local housing need is using the 

current standard method set out in Government guidance which currently uses the 2014 

based household projections.  The authorities agree that local housing need (2020 - 2036) is 

as follows: 

Local Planning Authority Total Housing Need 

2020 – 2036 

Houses per year 

2020 - 2036 

Blaby District Council 5,520 345 

Charnwood Borough Council 17,680 1,105 

Harborough District Council 8,800 550 

Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council 7,232 452 

Leicester City Council 37,456 2,341 

Melton Borough Council 3,216 201 

North West Leicestershire District Council 5,744 359 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council 2,672 167 

Leicester and Leicestershire HMA Total 88,320 5,520 

Table 1: Local Housing Need 

3.4 The Government’s current standard method for calculating housing need suggests L&L need 

to provide 88,320 homes (5,520 per year 2020 to 2036).   

3.5 The NPPF requires authorities to have a clear understanding of the land available in their 

area to meet housing need through the preparation of a strategic housing land availability 

assessment (SHLAA).  In L&L, the SHLAAs have been prepared using an agreed methodology 

across the HMA as a whole. 

3.6 Appendix A and B to this Statement have been prepared using the outputs of the standard 

method for calculating housing need and SHLAAs.  It provides a summary of the need for 

new homes, and the theoretical capacity of both the HMA and each local authority.    

36

https://www.llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk/the-plan/stage-three/


3.7 To 2036 there is a theoretical capacity for some 173,147 homes across the HMA as a whole 

(Appendix B).  When set against the need of 88,320 (2020-36), the authorities agree there is 

flexibility to meet L&L housing need within the HMA, including unmet need. 

3.8 Housing supply in L&L is strong.  Up to 2031 (Appendix A) there is already sufficient supply in 

the pipeline to meet the needs of the HMA.  The L&L housing need 2020-31 is 60,720 using the 

standard method.  Taking into account commitments, allocations (including emerging 

allocations in Leicester and Charnwood Draft Plans) and windfalls, there is a supply of 69,403 

which is 8,683 (14%) higher than the HMA-wide need.  Leicester City Council is the only 

authority to declare an unmet need at present.     

3.9 Up to 2036 (Appendix B) the supply situation remains relatively strong given that most local 

plans cover up to, or close to, 2031.  The L&L housing need to 2036 is 88,320 using the 

standard method.  Taking into account housing commitments, allocations (including 

emerging allocations in Leicester and Charnwood Draft plans) and windfalls suggest there is 

a supply of 84,388 which is close to the HMA wide need.  

 L&L Employment Need to 2036 

3.10 The authorities agree the appropriate way to calculate employment need is using the jointly 

prepared Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) unless a more 

recent assessment has been undertaken.  Based on the HEDNA and local assessments of 

employment land need the authorities agree the need is as follows: 

Table 2: Employment Land Needs.  *Note: the need has been adjusted to a base-date of 2019 taking 

into account completions as appropriate.  

3.11 Table 2 above shows L&L have to provide 372 - 392 ha hectares of employment land to 

2036. The authorities agree the L&L employment land needs (including unmet need) can be 

met within the FEMA.    

Local Planning Authority Employment Need 2019 to 
2036 (Hectares)* 

Source 

Blaby District Council 74.84 - 75.85 ha HEDNA 

Charnwood Borough Council 55.9 ha HEDNA + Charnwood 
Employment Land Review (2018) 

Harborough District Council 45 - 52 ha HEDNA 

Hinckley and Bosworth 
Borough Council 

38.5 - 50 ha EL&PS 

Leicester City Council 67 ha City Economic Development 
Needs Assessment 2020 

Melton Borough Council 33.05ha Employment Land Study 2015 

North West Leicestershire 
District Council 

47.7 ha  

 

North West Leicestershire – The 
need for employment land 
(November 2020) Stantec 

Oadby and Wigston Borough 
Council 

10.31 ha Employment Land and Premises 
Study, October 2017 

Leicester and Leicestershire 
HMA Total 

372 - 392 ha  

37



 Unmet need to 2036 

3.12 The authorities agree that Leicester City Council is the only authority in L&L to have declared 

and quantified (with evidence) an unmet need to 2036.  Assisting Leicester to meet its 

unmet need is therefore a key element of the Duty to Co-operate across L&L.  

3.13 Leicester City Council consulted on a Draft Local Plan (regulation 18) in September to 

December 2020, with a view to publishing the Submission Version (regulation 19) in 2021.  

Leicester City declared an unmet housing need in February 2017 (Appendix H) which 

remained unquantified while further evidence was gathered to support the publication of 

their Draft Local Plan.  During this time several authorities have adopted local plans. 

3.14 The L&L authorities were made aware of the potential scale of unmet need in December 

2019. Consultation on the Draft Leicester Local Plan (and associated evidence) was delayed 

due to the COVID-19 Pandemic until September to December 2020.    

3.15 Leicester’s Draft Local Plan consultation indicates a potential unmet need of 7,742 homes 

and 23 Hectares of employment land (B2 General Industrial and B8 Small Warehousing Units 

less than 9,000 sq.m) 2019 to 2036.   

3.16  However, immediately after the consultation closed in December 2020 the Government 

published a new standard method for calculating housing need.  The new method increased 

Leicester’s housing need by 35%, adding a further 9,712 homes to their need between 2020 

and 2036 (607 homes per year).   

3.17 Although the supply of homes in Leicester may evolve as their local plan progresses, 

providing for this amount of additional homes in the City would require more than a 

doubling of the allocations set out in their recent Draft Local Plan.  In this context the City 

consider that it will not be possible to meet NPPF policy obligations of a sound and 

deliverable plan, and so in the revised PPG context (Paragraph: 035 Reference ID: 2a-035-

20201216) it will be necessary to seek to agree a Statement of Common Ground to deal with 

the recent increase in housing need. 

3.18  The authorities agree the Government changes to the standard method on 16 December 

2020 has significantly increased housing need in Leicester and acknowledge the quantity of 

Leicester’s unmet need may change as the Local Plan progresses (e.g. as evidence on land 

supply is developed further).  

 Apportionment of Leicester’s Unmet Need to 2036 

3.19 The authorities remain committed to cooperating on strategic cross boundary matters, 

including agreeing the redistribution of any unmet housing and employment need. The 

authorities have been engaged in a process of testing reasonable alternative options for 

meeting Leicester’s unmet need through a Sustainability Appraisal process with a view to 

agreeing an apportionment of the unmet need ahead of the submission of the Charnwood 

Local Plan (as set out in the agreed Joint Statement of September 2020 – Appendix G).     

3.20 However, the authorities agree the change in Leicester’s housing need on 16 December 

2020 (resulting from Government changes to the standard method for calculating housing 

need) is so significant that it requires additional evidence.  This means the Charnwood Local 

Plan will now be submitted ahead of the apportionment of housing being agreed. 

38



3.21 The authorities agree to carry out the following programme of work to inform the 

apportionment of unmet need from Leicester to the L&L Districts/Boroughs:   

• Housing and Economic Needs Assessment 

• Strategic Growth Options and Constraints Mapping 

• Strategic Transport Assessment 

• Sustainability Appraisal 

3.22 This work will be commissioned in Spring 2021 and used to inform a Statement of Common 

Ground apportioning unmet need which is anticipated to be completed in Winter 

2021/2022. 

3.23 On 19th January 2021 the Government published a Written Ministerial Statement and wrote 

to all Local Planning Authorities in England reminding them of the continued importance of 

maintaining progress on producing up-to-date Local Plans (Appendix I).  In the letter the 

Government make clear “it is essential that plans are kept up to date” and “it is critical that 

work should continue to progress Local Plans through to adoption by the end of 2023 to help 

ensure that the economy can rebound strongly from the COVID-19 emergency”. The 

Charnwood Local Plan is also critical to demonstrating and maintaining a five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites.  Delay will lead to unplanned development and lack of certainty 

for communities, and private and public sector investors in the intervening period.  

3.24 To maintain progress on producing an up-to-date Local Plan for Charnwood, the authorities 

agree that Charnwood Borough Council will continue to actively engage in the programme of 

work to redistribute unmet need and include a trigger policy to review and update the Local 

Plan, if the agreed apportionment of unmet need requires it.   

3.25 Employment:  The authorities agree a working assumption unmet need figure of 23 Hectares 

(B2 and Small B8) for Leicester.  This will be subject to testing through the Leicester Local 

Plan.  The authorities agree there is a sufficient supply of employment land in the 

Charnwood Local Plan (submission version) to accommodate this level of unmet need if this 

is found to be a sustainable approach, in the context of the programme of evidence work to 

inform the apportionment of unmet need. 

4.0 Maintaining and Updating this Statement 

4.1 The authorities acknowledge the Government intend to reform the planning system and 

recently consulted on a White Paper - Planning for the Future. 

4.2 There is no timetable for the reforms and the proposals could change following 

consultations. Against this background the Government is encouraging authorities to get up-

to-date Local Plans in place and some authorities in L&L are at an advanced stage of plan 

preparation.   

4.3 This statement includes an agreed programme of work to apportion unmet need from 

Leicester.  The authorities agree the Duty to Cooperate is an ongoing process and this 

statement will be kept up to date to reflect the latest position.  The process for updating and 

maintaining this statement will be managed through ongoing joint work between the 

authorities. Once the agreed work is complete, the authorities agree this statement will be 

updated to include the apportionment of unmet need across L&L based on the evidence.  

39



Appendix A - Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Land Supply, 2020 to 2031 
 
The table below compares housing land supply to local housing need based on the Governments Standard Method.  The calculations are based on data 
available at 1st April 2020. 

 A B C D E F G H 

Authority 

Local 

Housing 

Need  

2020 -

2031 

Commitments1 

projected for 

delivery 

2020 to 2031 

Allocations 

in an 

adopted 

Plan2 

Emerging 

allocations 

in a draft 

plan2 

Allowance for 

small site or 

windfall 

development 

to 2031 

Total 

Projected 

Delivery to 

2031 

(B+C+D+E) 

SHLAA 

Capacity to 

20313 

Total 

Theoretical 

Capacity to 

2031 

(F+G) 

Blaby 3,795 4,467 758  240 5,465 5,408 10,873 

Charnwood 12,155 7,080 1,385 7,894 640 16,999 10,529 27,528 

Harborough 6,050 3,693 4,332  864 8,889 5,873 14,762 

Hinckley & 

Bosworth 
4,972 2,692 2,063  584 5,339 15,902 21,241 

Leicester 

City 
25,751 9,047  6,602 1,650 17,299 0 17,299 

Melton 2,211 2,704 3,145  189 6,038 1,108 7,146 

NW Leics 3,949 5,862 790  320 6,972 3,821 10,793 

Oadby & 

Wigston 
1,837 1,010 1,203  189 2,402 0 2,402 

HMA total 60,720 36,555 13,676 14,496 4,676 69,403 42,041 112,044 

 
1 Includes sites under construction; with planning permission (including sites with a resolution to grant), as at 31/03/2020 
2 projected delivery up to 31/03/2031; includes allocated sites from local and neighbourhood plans 
3 To avoid duplication SHLAA sites that have planning permission or are allocated in an adopted or emerging plan have been removed from this figure 

40



Appendix B - Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Land Supply, 2020 to 2036 

 
The table below compares housing land supply to local housing need based on the Governments Standard Method.  The calculations are based on data 
available at 1st April 2020. 
 

 A B C D E F G H 

Authority 

Local 

Housing 

Need  

2020 -

2036 

Commitments1 

projected for 

delivery 

2020 to 2036 

Allocations 

in an 

adopted 

Plan2 

Emerging 

allocations 

in a draft 

plan2 

Allowance for 

small site or 

windfall 

development 

to 2036 

Total 

Projected 

Delivery to 

2036 

(B+C+D+E) 

SHLAA 

Capacity to 

20363 

Total 

Theoretical 

Capacity to 

2036 

(F+G) 

Blaby 5,520 4,918 984  440 6,342 18,956 25,298 

Charnwood 17,680 8,820 1,990 9,024 1,040 20,874 19,938 40,812 

Harborough 8,800 3,693 5,679  864 10,236 9,819 20,055 

Hinckley & 

Bosworth 
7,232 2,992 4,053  949 7,924 23,130 31,124 

Leicester 

City 
37,456 9,865  8,456 2,400 20,721 0 20,721 

Melton 3,216 2,704 3,891  334 6,929 3,635 10,564 

NW Leics 5,744 7,013 1,427  520 8,960 13,281 22,241 

Oadby & 

Wigston 
2,672 1,010 1,203  189 2,402 0 2,402 

HMA total 88,320 41,015 19,227 17,480 6,736 84,388 88,759 173,147 

 
1 Includes sites under construction; with planning permission (including sites with a resolution to grant), as at 31/03/2020 
2 projected delivery up to 31/03/2036; includes allocated sites from local and neighbourhood plans 
3 To avoid duplication SHLAA sites that have planning permission or are allocated in an adopted or emerging plan have been removed from this figure 

41



Appendix C – Location and Administrative Areas 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

42



Appendix D – Local Plan Preparation in Leicester & Leicestershire 

 
Authority Adopted Plan Emerging Plan Progress 

Blaby District 
Council 

• Core Strategy (2013) 

• Delivery DPD 2019 (Part 2 
plan) 

 

• Issues & Options Consultation 
on a new local plan (July 2019) 

• New Local Plan Options 
Consultation (January 2021) 

Charnwood 
Borough 
Council 

• Core Strategy (2015) 

• Saved policies of Borough of 
Charnwood Local Plan (2004) 

• Issues and Options consultation 

(April 2018) 

• Draft Local Plan (reg 18) 

consultation (November 2019) 

• Final Draft Local Plan (reg 19) 
consultation (Spring 2021) 

Harborough 
District 
Council 

• Local Plan (2019) • N/A 

Hinckley & 
Bosworth 
Borough 
Council 

• Core Strategy (2009) 

• Site Allocations DPD 2016 
(Part 2 plan) 

• Directions for Growth 
Consultation (March 2019) 

Leicester City 
Council 

• Core Strategy (2014) 

• 2006 Adopted City of 
Leicester Local Plan  

• Draft Local Plan (reg 18) 
Published for Consultation 
September 2020 

North West 
Leicestershire 
District 
Council 

• Local Plan (2017) • Issues consultation (February 
2018) 

• Emerging options consultation 
(November 2018) 

• Partial Review – pre-submission 
consultation (November 2019) 

• Partial Review – Examination 
(September 2020) 

Melton 
Borough 
Council 

• Local Plan (2018) • N/A 

Oadby & 
Wigston 
Borough 
Council 

• Local Plan (2019) • N/A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

43



Appendix E – L&L Joint Statement of Cooperation, November 2017 

 

L&L Joint Statement of Cooperation 
 
Leicester & Leicestershire Authorities 

Joint Statement of Co-operation Relating to Objectively Assessed Need for Housing 

November 2017 

 

1.0 The Leicester and Leicestershire HMA 

1.1 The Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area (HMA) covers the 

administrative areas of eight local authorities and two highway authorities.  The eight 

local planning authorities are: 

• Blaby District Council 

• Charnwood Borough Council 

• Harborough District Council 

• Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council 

• Leicester City Council 

• Melton Borough Council 

• North West Leicestershire District Council 

• Oadby & Wigston Borough Council 

1.2 The two highways authorities are: 

• Leicester City Council 

• Leicestershire County Council 

1.3 The purpose of this Joint Statement of Co-operation (the ‘Joint Statement’) is to 

support those authorities which are seeking to produce a Local Plan in advance of 

the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP), and to set out how the local authorities will 

collaborate further to ensure that the necessary joint evidence is in place to support 

subsequent Local Plans.  The document has been received by the Members’ 

Advisory Group overseeing the preparation of the Strategic Growth Plan and will 

proceed through the normal governance procedures of individual authorities as 

necessary. 

2.0 Background 

Duty to Cooperate 

2.1 The Joint Statement is intended to provide evidence of effective co-operation on 

planning for issues with cross-boundary impacts.  A Housing and Economic 

Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) has been completed, the purpose of 

which is to identify the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for housing and 

employment for the HMA and Functional Economic Market Area (FEMA) in the 

periods 2011-2031 and 2011-2036.  In the case of Leicester & Leicestershire, the 

HMA and FEMA are coincident.  The HEDNA was commissioned jointly by the nine 

44



local authorities together with the Leicester & Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership 

(LLEP). 

Objectively Assessed Need for Housing 

2.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local planning authorities 

to ensure that their Local Plans meet the full OAN for market and affordable housing 

in the HMA as far as is consistent with the policies set out in the NPPF (paragraph 

47).  

2.3 To enable an understanding of capacity to accommodate additional housing, the 

NPPF further requires local planning authorities to prepare a Strategic Housing Land 

Availability Assessment (SHLAA) to establish realistic assumptions about availability, 

suitability and likely economic viability of land to meet the identified need for housing 

over the plan period (paragraph 159).  In Leicester & Leicestershire, the SHLAAs 

have been prepared using an agreed methodology across the HMA as a whole. 

2.4 Table 1 has been prepared using the outputs of the joint HEDNA and SHLAAs.  It 

provides a summary of the agreed OAN for housing, and the theoretical capacity of 

both the HMA and each local authority; the theoretical capacity has been derived 

from an understanding of existing commitments and SHLAA information.  The partner 

authorities agree that the OAN for the HMA (and each local authority) is that set out 

in the table.   

2.5 The HEDNA explains that the OAN is set at the level of the HMA although the OAN 

for each local authority is also identified; the OAN for each individual authority is 

considered to be secondary to that of the HMA as a whole.  Table 1 indicates that the 

OAN for the HMA as a whole, based on demographic analysis, is some 96,580 

dwellings for the period 2011-31 (4,829 dpa).  For the period, 2011-2036, the figure is 

some 117,900 dwellings (4,716 dpa). 

2.6 A similar analysis has been undertaken of the need for housing based on the 

economic development needs of the area; in this case, it has been concluded that 

the need for new housing, based on economic development needs across the FEMA, 

is lower than the demographic need.  On that basis, there is no need for adjustment 

of this figure at the level of the HMA/FEMA although there is some misalignment at 

the level of individual authorities.  As a result, there may be an alternative distribution 

of housing to meet economic needs whilst still ensuring that the demographic need of 

4,829 or 4,716 dpa is met across the HMA/FEMA as a whole in line with paragraph 

47 of the NPPF. 

2.7 In terms of the housing capacity, Table 1 also indicates that there is a theoretical 

capacity for some 207,069 dwellings across the HMA as a whole.  When this is set 

against the OAN of 96,580 (2011-31) and 117,900 (2011-36) dwellings, it is clear that 

there is considerable flexibility to meet the defined housing need across the HMA.   

2.8 It is recognised that the ability of each local authority to meet its own OAN will vary.  

Table 1 demonstrates that, theoretically, and with the exception of Leicester City 

Council, all authorities are able to accommodate their own needs in the period 2011-

36.  In the period 2011-36, neither Leicester City Council nor Oadby & Wigston 

Borough Council will be able to meet their needs.  It is important to note, however, 

that further testing will be required by the respective authorities through their Local 

Plan processes.  Should an HMA authority identify, quantify and provide robust 

evidence to demonstrate an unmet need in the future, it will be incumbent upon the 

45



HMA authorities jointly to resolve any cross-boundary matters with HMA partners 

under the Duty to Co-operate.   

2.9 Following publication of the HEDNA, both Leicester City Council and Oadby & 

Wigston Borough Council declared that they would not be able to accommodate their 

full objectively assessed needs (OAN) for housing within their own boundaries.  

Letters were sent out by Leicester City Council in February 2017 and by Oadby & 

Wigston Borough Council in March 2017, to all other authorities within the Leicester 

& Leicestershire Housing Market Area, setting out the position and their formal 

declarations of unmet housing need.  Since that time, and based on evidence, Oadby 

& Wigston Borough Council has determined that it will be able to accommodate its 

needs in the period 2011-2031 but not in respect of the period 2011-36.  Oadby & 

Wigston Borough Council issued a further letter in November 2017 confirming its 

position.  Both Leicester City Council and Oadby & Wigston Borough Council are yet 

to formally and finally evidence the extent of their unmet need, however it is 

necessary to include provision to accommodate unmet need arising from these two 

Council areas, for the relevant periods, within the HMA as a whole; this may include 

an element of a flexibility allowance in local plans currently in preparation, should the 

need arise. 

2.10 In terms of determining housing targets to be included in their Local Plans, local 

planning authorities should take account of the requirements of both national policy 

and local circumstances, including the need to base Local Plans on a strategy that 

seeks to meet the OAN for housing.  In this regard, it is recognised that all authorities 

are at different stages of plan preparation and that this situation must be 

accommodated.  In determining their housing target over the relevant plan period, 

therefore, each authority will take into account the HEDNA and other relevant 

evidence. 

2.11 In addition, the nine local authorities and the LLEP have jointly agreed to produce a 

Strategic Growth Plan, a non-statutory strategic plan looking forward to around 2050.  

As part of their work on the Strategic Growth Plan, the partner organisations may 

choose to redistribute development across the HMA as appropriate but the process 

of preparing the Strategic Growth Plan is not anticipated to be complete until the end 

of 2018 and will not, therefore, be available for all authorities to use prior to preparing 

their Local Plans.  At the same time, Government has made it clear that it wants 

Local Plans for individual authorities to be in place without delay; and where no Local 

Plan has been produced, Government may choose to intervene in the process.  As a 

result, the partner organisations understand that some authorities might wish to 

progress their Local Plans in advance of the Strategic Growth Plan.   

2.12 The Written Ministerial Statement by the Minister for Housing and Local Government 

(21 July 2015) re-emphasises that Local Authorities cannot plan in isolation and must 

work together to provide the land for the housing needed across HMAs.  It states: “As 

we have made clear in planning guidance a commitment to an early review of a Local 

Plan may be appropriate as a way of ensuring that a Local Plan is not unnecessarily 

delayed by seeking to resolve matters which are not critical to the plans soundness 

or legal competence as a whole”.  It also refers to a note prepared by the Planning 

Advisory Service which local authorities should consider; this sets out circumstances 

in which Local Plans have been found sound, subject to a commitment to an early 

review. 

46



2.13 Taking this into account, the HMA authorities reached agreement in summer 2016 on 

 appropriate trigger mechanisms that would be inserted into all Local Plans coming 

forward before the Strategic Growth Plan.  In this respect the partner authorities 

agree that should the Strategic Growth Plan identify a significant change which would 

require local authorities to re-consider the amount of housing and employment land, 

an early review or partial review of affected Plan(s) will be brought forward to address 

this matter, unless there is sufficient flexibility already provided for within the Plan. 

Such flexibility may, for example, be secured by a Local Plan that specifies a 

requirement which materially exceeds the FOAN identified by the HEDNA.  The 

agreement is based on the principle that the trigger mechanisms would be applied on 

a consistent basis across the HMA, ensuring that all Local Plans submitted in 

advance of the Strategic Growth Plan contain the necessary flexibility to respond to 

any significant change that might arise. 

  

47



Table 1: OAN as defined in HEDNA (January 2017) and Theoretical Capacity based on 

assumptions set out in notes. 

 

  

OAN*1 
(2011- 
2031) 

OAN*1 
(2011 - 
2036) 

  

Theoretical 
Total 

Capacity*2 

Blaby 

  

7,400 9,025 

  

24,096*3 

Charnwood 20,620 24,850 34,756*3 

Harborough 10,640 12,850 30,578*3 

Hinckley & 
Bosworth 

9,420 11,350 25,498*3 

Leicester 
City 

33,840 41,700 26,230*3 

Melton 3,720 4,250 36,650*3 

Northwest 
Leics 

9,620 11,200 26,301*3 

Oadby & 
Wigston 

2,960 3,875 2,960*3 

HMA 
Total*4   96,580 117,900 

  
207,069*3 

 
*1 The OAN is set out in the agreed HEDNA (January 2017) 
*2 This figure is based on information on completions, 
commitments, windfalls (in some authorities) and SHLAAs as 
at 1st April 2016. 
*3 The final figure will be determined by each authority 
through the Local Plans process. 
*4 The Total received OAN for the HMA is lower than the sum 
of the OAN for individual authorities because the OAN for 
Melton BC and North West Leicestershire DC has been 
increased in the HEDNA to meet economic needs locally.  

 
  

Note: 
It should be noted that nothing in this statement should be taken to prejudice any 

representations made by individual authorities on any partner Local Plan. 

 

 

48



Appendix F – L&L Joint Position Statement, March 2018 

 

 

49



 

 

 

 

 

50



 

 

 

 

 

51



52



53



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

54



 55



 

 

Appendix G – L&L Joint Position Statement, September 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leicester & Leicestershire Authorities 

 

 

Joint Position Statement relating to Leicester’s 

Housing and Employment Land Needs 

 

 

 

 

 

September 2020 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

56



 

1.0 The Leicester and Leicestershire HMA and FEMA 

 

1.1 The Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area (HMA) and Functional Economic Area 

(FEMA) covers the administrative areas of eight local planning authorities and two highway 

authorities.  The eight local planning authorities are: 

 

• Blaby District Council 

• Charnwood Borough Council 

• Harborough District Council 

• Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council 

• Leicester City Council 

• Melton Borough Council 

• North West Leicestershire District Council 

• Oadby & Wigston Borough Council 

 

1.2 The two upper tier authorities in Leicester and Leicestershire, with statutory responsibilities for 

transportation, education, social care, flooding, minerals & waste planning and public health are: 

 

• Leicester City Council 

• Leicestershire County Council 

 

1.3 The purpose of this Statement is to set out how the authorities continue to work together to 

accommodate a potential unmet need for housing and employment land identified in the 

Leicester City Draft Local Plan Consultation (Sept 2020). The authorities have a long track 

record of cooperation across Leicester and Leicestershire (L&L) and have adopted a non-

statutory Strategic Growth Plan which includes ‘notional’ housing figures 

(http://www.llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Final-LL-SGP-December-

2018-1.pdf ).  It is envisaged a Statement of Common Ground will be completed in 2021, setting 

out how any unmet need from Leicester will be redistributed amongst the other authorities in 

L&L.   

 

2.0 Background 

 

Summary 

 

2.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local plans, as a minimum, to provide 

for the objectively assessed need for housing and other uses, as well as any needs that cannot 

be met within neighbouring areas (unless the NPPF provides a strong reason for restricting 

development; or the adverse impacts of doing so significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits when assessed against the NPPF).   

 

2.2 Plans should be informed by agreements with other authorities so that unmet need from 

neighbouring areas is accommodated where practical and sustainable to do so, and based on 

effective cross-boundary joint working as evidenced in a Statement of Common Ground (SCG).  

 

2.3 Leicester City Council is consulting on a Draft Local Plan (regulation 18) in September 2020, 

with a view to publishing the Submission Version (regulation 19) in 2021.  Leicester City 

declared an unmet housing need in February 2017 which remained unquantified while further 

evidence was gathered to support the publication of their Draft Local Plan.  During this time 

several authorities have adopted local plans. 

57

http://www.llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Final-LL-SGP-December-2018-1.pdf
http://www.llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Final-LL-SGP-December-2018-1.pdf


 

   

2.4 The L&L authorities were made aware of the potential scale of unmet need in December 2019. 

Consultation on the Leicester Draft Local Plan (and associated evidence) was delayed due to 

the COVID-19 Pandemic and is anticipated to start in September 2020.    

  

2.5 Leicester’s Draft Local Plan consultation indicates a potential unmet need of 7,742 homes and 

23 Hectares of employment land 2019 to 2036.  The authorities in L&L have been progressing 

work on a Sustainability Appraisal to assess options for where this unmet need could be 

appropriately distributed across L&L.  This will inform a Statement of Common Ground setting 

out how any unmet need from Leicester will be distributed amongst the HMA authorities, which 

is intended for completion in early 2021.  

 

3.0 Unmet Need in Context 

 

 Housing 

 

3.1 The Governments current Standard Method for calculating housing need uses 2014-based 

household projections, and suggests L&L have to provide 82,739 homes (4,867 per year 2019 

to 2036).  In this context an unmet need in Leicester of 7,742 homes is about 9% of the overall 

need for L&L over this period. 

 

3.2 The NPPF requires authorities to have a clear understanding of the land available in their area 

to meet housing need through the preparation of a strategic housing land availability 

assessment (SHLAA).  In L&L, the SHLAAs have been prepared using an agreed methodology 

across the HMA as a whole. 

 

3.3 Appendix A and B to this Statement have been prepared using the outputs of the Standard 

Method for calculating housing need and SHLAAs.  It provides a summary of the need for new 

homes, and the theoretical capacity of both the HMA and each local authority.    

 

3.4 To 2036 there is a theoretical capacity for some 174,412 homes across the HMA as a whole 

(Appendix B).  When set against the need of 82,793 (2019-36), it is clear there is considerable 

flexibility to meet housing need within the HMA, including Leicester’s unmet need of 7,742 

homes. 

 

3.5 Housing supply in L&L is strong.  Up to 2031 (Appendix A) there is already sufficient supply in 

the pipeline to meet the needs of the HMA.  The L&L housing need 2019-31 is 58,404 using the 

standard method.  Taking into account commitments, allocations (including emerging 

allocations in Leicester and Charnwood Draft Plans) and windfalls, there is a supply of 70,371 

which is 11,967 (20%) higher than the HMA-wide need.  Leicester City Council is the only 

authority to declare an unmet need at present.     

 

3.6 Up to 2036 (Appendix B) the supply situation remains relatively strong given that most local 

plans cover up to, or close to, 2031.  The L&L housing need to 2036 is 82,739 using the 

standard method.  Assuming as minimum all District and Borough authorities will meet their own 

housing need, housing commitments, allocations (including emerging allocations in Leicester 

and Charnwood Draft plans) and windfalls suggest there is a supply of 85,767 which is 3,028 

(4%) higher than the HMA wide need.  

 

 

58



 

 Employment 

 

3.7 The most up-to-date FEMA-wide assessment of employment needs is the Housing and 

Economic Development Needs Assessment (2017).  It identifies a need for 459 to 497 Hectares 

of employment in L&L (2011-2036).  In this context, an unmet need of 23 Hectares is less than 

5% and relatively small. 

 

4.0 Changing Context 

 

4.1 The Government intends to reform the planning system and is consulting on potential future 

changes, including:   

 

• Planning for the Future - White Paper 

• Changes to the Current Planning System 

 

4.2 At present these reforms do not impact housing need or emerging Local Plans as they are 

consultations.  The Planning for the Future White Paper sets out plans for fundamental reform 

of the planning system and explains this would be accompanied by shorter-term measures. The 

‘Changes to the Current Planning System’ consultation sets out potential shorter-term 

measures to improve the effectiveness of the current system, including a potential new standard 

method for calculating housing need.   

 

4.3 There is no timetable for the reforms and the proposals could change following consultation. 

Against this background the Government encourages authorities to get up-to-date Local Plans 

in place and some authorities in L&L are at an advanced stage of plan preparation.  In light of 

the uncertainty surrounding the content and timing of government reforms, the L&L authorities 

continue to cooperate on how Leicester’s current unmet need could be distributed. 

 

4.4 If the proposed changes to the Standard Method for calculating housing need (as set out in the 

‘Changes to the Current Planning System’ consultation) are introduced unchanged, it would 

have implications for unmet need in L&L.  For example, Leicester’s unmet need for housing 

would be substantially lower or may not exist.  On the other hand, most other authorities would 

see a significant increase in the number of homes needed.   

 

4.5 The emerging situation will be kept under review as work progresses.  The Duty to Cooperate is 

an ongoing process, and although Government reforms may remove the Duty, the Government 

also recognise the need for further consideration to the way in which strategic cross-boundary 

issues can be adequately planned for. 

59



 

 

 

 

Appendix A - Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Land Supply, 2020 to 2031 

 

The table below compares housing land supply to local housing need based on the Governments Standard Method.  The calculations are 

based on data available at 1st April 2020. 

 

 A B C D E F G H 

Authority 

Local 

Housing 

Need  

2020 -

2031 

 

Commitments1 

projected for 

delivery 

2020 to 2031 

Allocations 

in an 

adopted 

Plan2 

Emerging 

allocations 

in a draft 

plan2 

Allowance 

for small site 

or windfall 

development 

to 2031 

Total 

Projected 

Delivery to 

2031 

(B+C+D+E) 

SHLAA 

Capacity 

to 20313 

Total 

Theoretical 

Capacity to 

2031 

(F+G) 

Blaby 

 
4,068 4,935 758  280 5,973 12,150 18,123 

Charnwood 

 
12,984 8,734 1,385 5,761 720 16,660 13,948 30,608 

Harborough 

 
6,504 4,064 4,526  330 8,920 4,835 13,755 

Hinckley & 

Bosworth 

 

5,484 3,139 
185 

 
 603 4,039 23,105 27,144 

Leicester 

City 

 

 

20,544 9,827  7,131 1,800 18,758 0 18,758 

Melton 

 

 

2,412 2,353 2,891  223 5,467 1,108 6,575 

NW Leics 

 

 

4,548 6,647 990  360 7,997 4,052 12,049 

60



 

Oadby & 

Wigston 

 

1,860 791 1,449  159 2,399 0 2,399 

HMA total 

 
58,404 40,490 12,184 12,892 4,475 70,371 59,198 129,299 

 
1 Includes sites under construction; with planning permission (including sites with a resolution to grant), as at 31/03/2020 
2 projected delivery up to 31/03/2031; includes allocated sites from local and neighbourhood plans 
3 To avoid duplication SHLAA sites that have planning permission or are allocated in an adopted or emerging plan have been removed from 

this figure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

61



 

 

 

Appendix B - Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Land Supply, 2020 to 2036 

 

The table below compares housing land supply to local housing need based on the Governments Standard Method.  The calculations are 

based on data available at 1st April 2020. 

 

 A B C D E F G H 

Authority 

Local 

Housing 

Need  

2020 -

2036 

 

Commitments1 

projected for 

delivery 

2020 to 2036 

Allocations 

in an 

adopted 

Plan2 

Emerging 

allocations 

in a draft 

plan2 

Allowance 

for small site 

or windfall 

development 

to 2036 

Total 

Projected 

Delivery to 

2036 

(B+C+D+E) 

SHLAA 

Capacity 

to 20363 

Total 

Theoretical 

Capacity to 

2036 

(F+G) 

Blaby 

 
5,763 5,314 878  480 6,672 15,003 21,675 

Charnwood 

 
18,394 10,474 1,990 7,252 1,120 20,836 20,161 40,997 

Harborough 

 
9,214 4,064 5,526  640 10,230 8,975 19,205 

Hinckley & 

Bosworth 

 

7,769 3,949 

 

185 

 

 938 5,184 30,114 35,298 

Leicester 

City 

 

 

29,104 9,827  8,985 2,550 21,362 0 21,362 

Melton 

 

 

3,417 2,350 3,886  358 6,594 3,635 10,229 

NW Leics 

 

 

6,443 7,775 1,317  560 9,652 13,707 23,359 

62



 

Oadby & 

Wigston 

 

2,635 791 1,449  159 2,399 0 2,399 

HMA total 

 
82,739 44,544 15,231 16,237 6,805 82,817 91,595 174,412 

 
1 Includes sites under construction; with planning permission (including sites with a resolution to grant), as at 31/03/2020 
2 projected delivery up to 31/03/2036; includes allocated sites from local and neighbourhood plans 
3 To avoid duplication SHLAA sites that have planning permission or are allocated in an adopted or emerging plan have been removed from 

this figure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

63



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

64



 

Appendix H – Letter from Leicester City Council 
 

 

65



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

66



 

 

 

67



 68



 

Appendix I - Written Ministerial Statement 

 

 

69



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

70


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Local Plan Review: Policy Options for EC2(2). Start Up Workspace and Local Employment
	Appendix 1

	6 Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA) - New Sites
	Appendix A
	A42 Junction 11
	A42 Junction 13
	West of M1 Junction 23a
	Land at Donington le Heath and Ellistown
	Land at Shellbrook Farm
	Land east and west of Belton
	Land at Belton


	7 Leicester & Leicestershire Authorities - Statement of Common Ground Relating to Housing and Employment Land Needs
	Appendix 1


